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PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION

The first edition of this pamphlet, published in January 1951, bore
the title Boundary Monuments on the Maryland-Pennsylvania and
Maryland-Delaware Boundaries. The first edition has been out of
print for some years but interest in the subject continues and it
seems advisable to publish a second edition.

The historical account of the boundaries contained in this edition
differs little from that in the first. A few errors have been corrected
and new maps and photographs have been substituted for some of
those in the first edition. The present edition contains new informa-
tion which has come to light since 1951 and describes the steps which
have been taken toward the restoration of the Maryland-Deiawafe
boundaries.

Doctor A. L. Frussell has continued his interest in the bowmdary
markers and has supplied the Board of Natural Resources with addi-
tional information on individval boundary markers. Dr. Trussell
has received no remuneration whatever for his labor, travel or other
expenses in assembling this information. The Board of Natural
Resources and the State of Maryland are deeply indebted to Dr.
Trusscll for his interest and his generosity in his connection with
the historic houndaries of the State. ‘

The Board is also indebted to Leon deValinger, Jr., State Archivist
of Delaware and to Lester W. Novinger and other officials of the
Delaware Highway Department for their interest and their coopera-
tion in plans [or the restoration of the Maryland-Delaware boundaries.

WirniaMm H, Bavier
Annapolis
May 1, 1959




PREFACE TO THE FIRST EDITION

The following Report is published to fulfill the requirements of
Joint Resolution 4 passed by the 1950 General Assembly of Mary-
land. The report summarizes the condition in 1950 of the monu-

ments marking the Maryland-Pennsylvania and the Maryland-Dela-
ware boundaries.

Most of the historical information in the report was either written
or checked against original sources by Mrs. William H. Bayliff of
Annapolis. Data and photographs of monuments on the Maryland-
Delaware boundaries were collected and organized by Dr. A, L. Trus-
sell of Baltimore. Neither Mrs. Bayliff nor Doctor Trussell received
any tangible compensation for thelr work, Photographs and notes
on the monuments on the Maryland-Pennsylvania boundary were
furnished by Gwynn Reel who was employed by the Board of Natural
Resources for that purpose in June 1950,

The Board of Natural Resources is pleased to acknowledge the in-
dustry and perseverance of Mr. Reel and the generous assistance ol
Mrs. Bayliff and Doctor Trussell. The Board is also grateful to the
Society for the Preservation of Maryland Antiquities for its interest
and encouragement, and to the Maryland Historical Society for access
to a2 valuable collection of source material, -

Finally, the Board is deeply indebted to a number of Maryland,
Pennsylvania and Delaware citizens who live near these boundaries
and who kindly assisted in locating the more obscure monuments.
Special thanks are due Harvey Ambrose who assisted in the restoration
of the Maryland-Pennsylvania boundary in 1902 and who now resides
near this line between Washington County, Maryland, and Franklin
County, Pennsylvania. Mr. Ambrose's keen memory enabled him to
point out in rough terrain two of the Mason-Dixon monuments which
would otherwise have been very difficult to find.

Wirniay H. Baveorrr
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HISTORY OF THE BOUNDARY CONTROVERSY

THE MARYLAND CHARTER

The Maryland Charter, written in Latin, gave to Lord Baltimore a
tract of land “hitherto uncultivated (hactenus incalta)} . . . partly
occupied by savages, having no knowledge of the Divine Being.”” The
boundaries of the grant ave described in Article IIT of the Charter,
beginning with a line which was to mark the southern boundary of
Maryland across the Eastern Shore—

. . a Right Line drawn from the Promontory, or Head-Land,
called Watkin's Point, situate upon the Bay aforesaid, near the River
of Wighco, on the Wes‘s unto the Main Ocean on the East; and be-
tween that Boundary on the South, unto that Payt of the Bay of
Delaware on the North, whickh lieth under the Fortieth Degree of
North Latitude . . . .: And all the Traect of that Land within the
Metes underwritten (that s fo say) passing from the said Bay,
called Delmware Bay, in a right line, by the degree aforesaid, unto
the true Meridian of the first Fountain of the River of Pattowmack,
thence verging toward the South, unto the further Bank of the said
River, and following the same on the West and South, unto & certain
place ‘called Cinguack, situate near the mouth of the said River . ...
and thence by the shortest Hne unto the aforesaid Promontory or
Place ecalled Waotlking Point . . . .

Payment for the grant is set forth in Article V of the Charter in
which Charles I charges Lord Baltimore with—

.. YIELDING therefore unto US, our Heirs and Successors, TWO

INDIAN ARROWS of those Parts, to be delivered to the said Castle

of Windsor, every Year, on Tuesday in Easter-week; and also the

fifth Part of all Gold and Siiver Ore, which shall happen from Time
to Time, to be found within the aforesaid Limits.

The Maryland Charter appeared to define clearly the limits of the
colony but the geography of the area was imperfectly known and
apparently the only map available was that of Captain John Smith.
Certain geographical points mentioned in the Charter became doubt-
ful and the language ol the Charter was subject to misinterpretation.
These doubts and ambiguities compelled Maryland to enter into a
long series of boundary disputes. The most bitter and the most costly
of these disputes was that with the Penns over the boundaries de-
scribed in the following pages.

EARLY SETTLEMENTS .
The Charter of Maryland was formaily approved by Charles L on
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April 15, 1632 and received the Royal seal on June 20 of the same
year, though actual settlement was not made until 1634. By this
time George Calvert, First Lord Baltimore, Secretary of State, and
friend of James I and Charles 1, had already died, and the respon-
sibility for founding the province of Maryland fell upon the young
shoulders of his son, Cecil Calvert, Second Lord Baltimore. The
success of the colony depended on keeping the good will of the King
and his counselors, for many were interested in the defeat of the
plan.  Since it seemed imperative that he maintain his influence at
Court, Cecil Calvert was unable to accompany the eojonists to the
New World. His younger brother, Leonard, became the first gover-
nor of the Palatinate, while another brother, George, became deputy
gOVEernor.,

On March 25, 1634 the Maryland colonists landed on St. Clement’s
(now Blakistone) Island in the Potomac River. A permanent settle-
ment and a fort were immediately established at S8t. Mary's on the
north shore of the Potomac. As the colony grew, other settlements
were established on the western shore of the Chesapeake Bay and
up the Potomac and Patusent Rivers. Settlements on the Eastern
Shore remained small and scattered and this allowed others to estab-
lish. colonies and to lay claim to land which properly belonged to
Lord Baltimore,

Furopean claims to territory in America were based on discoveries,
and the English undoubtedly had a prior claim to the middle At
lantic coasi through the voyages of the Cabots in 1496-97. However,
Henry Hudson, under a commission {rom the Dutch, entered the
mouth of Delaware Bay on April 28, 1609. Later in the same year
he sailed up the Hudsen River where he made extensive explorations,
and in 1625 a Dutch settlement was established on Manhattan Istand
at the month of the Hudson. The Dutch were interested in extend-
ing their territory in America, and in April 1631 a Dutch colony was
established at Whorekill on the west bank of the Delaware River on
land bought from the Indians. This Dutch settiement on the Dela-
ware, known as Zwaanendael (now Lewes) disappeared within a year
when all its inhabitants were massacred by the Indians. A second
Dutch settlement was established on the west bank of the Delaware
in 1632 but this was abandoned, and when the Maryland colonists
arrived there were no European settlers within the territory included
in the Maryland grant.

Sweden could make no claims to American territory by right of
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discovery, but was nevertheless eager to establish an American colony.
In March 1638 a group of Swedes arrived on the west bank of the
Delaware River and purchased {rom the Indians land which appeared
to be Maryland territory extending from Bombay Hook to the mouth
of the Schuylkill, A settlement of Swedes grew up around Ft. Chris-
tina (now Wilmington). In the meantime, the Dutch settlements
at the mouth of the Hudson had grown and established trade rela-
tions along the Delaware. The Dutch considered the Swedes inter-
lopers, and in 1651 they sent an armed expedition into the Swedish
territory and erected Fr. Casmir, now New Castie. In 1654 the
Swedes retaliated by capturing Ft. Casmir. The Dutch were enraged
and two vears later they recaptured Ft. Casmir, which they named
New Amstel, and captured the principal Swedish settlement at It
Christina. The Swedes who remained eventually merged with Eng-
lish or Dutch colonies.

The claims of the Dutch to Maryland territory were now serious,
since they had been left in undisturbed possession for several years.
In 1659 Maryland sent a deputation under Colonel Nathaniel Utie
to New Amstel (New Castle), the principal Dutch settlement, to
notify the Dutch that they were unlawfully seated within the province
of Lord Baltimore. Nothing came of this, Because of the presence
of the Dutch along the Delaware, Lord Baltimore petitioned for a
confirmation of his charter. The petition was granted by Charles TT
in 1661.

Maryland’s dispute with the Dutch never came to a head, doubt-
less because Lord Baltimore feared an international conflict. How-
ever, due to the aggressiveness of the Dutch in the valley of the Con-
necticut, Charles IT resolved to force them from his colonies. He
granted to his brother James, Duke of York, all the land from the
west bank of the Connecticut to the castern shore of the Delaware.
In 1674 an armed force was sent by the Duke to bring the Dutch to
terms in his territory. When this was accomplished, the force crossed
into Lord Baltimore’s territory, reduced the fort at New Amstel and
rechristened the town New Castle,

Since the Duke of York's claim was to territory only to the east
bank of the Delaware, the territory on the west bank either lay in the
Maryland grant to Lord Baltimore or belonged to the Dutch through
their claim of discovery. The English had never allowed the validity
of this claim of the Dutch; on the contrary, they held that Cabot’s
voyage which preceded that of Hudson by more than a century, gave
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them title to all the land between the St. Lawrence and Savannah.
It would seem then that the Dutch could not surrender to the Duke
of York that which thev did not rightfully possess, and that this terri-
tory along the west bank of the Delaware River and Bay belonged to
Lord Baltimore.

THE PENNSYLVANIA CHARTER

In 1680 William Penn, who had become interested in colonization,
asked, in consideration of debts due his father, for a tract of land
lying north of Maryland. Copies of Penn’s petition were sent to the
agents of Lord Baltimore and to those of the Duke of York in regard
to the proposed boundaries. When these replies were considered,
Penn agreed that Susquehanna Tort should be the northern bounds
of Lord Baltimore’s province. For some reason, Penn’s charter
omitted the clause about the Susquehanna Fort. Furthermore, it
contained ambiguities which later resulted in the loss of a large part
of Lord Baltimore's grant. Augustine Herman had prepared an ex-
cellent map of Maryland which had been printed and filed by Lord
Baltimore with the Privy Council in England in 1674. Though this
map showed the northern boundary of Maryland as the 40th degree
of latitude, Penn’s charter gave him all that tract of land—

“ bounded on the East by the Delaware River, from twelve
miles élstance, Northwarde of New Castle Towne unte the three and
fortieth degree of Northern Latitude . . . . the said lands to extend
‘Westwards, five degrees in Longitude . . . . and the said lands to bee
bounded on the North, by the beginning of the three and fortieth
degree of Northern Latitude, and on the South, by a circle drawne at
twelve miles distance from New Castle Northwards, and Westwards
vnto the beginning of the fortieth degree of Northern Latitude; and

then by a stlezg'ht line Westwards, to the limitt of Longztude
menconed . .

It was not possﬂ)le for such a circle to reach the 40th degree of lati-
tude. This definition of the southern boundary was later variously
interpreted as a circle twelve miles in circumference, a circle drawn
around a diameter of twelve miles passing through New Castle, and
as a circle with a radius of twelve miles beginning in New Castle,

THE BEGINNINGS OF THE BOUNDARY CONTROVERSY

Lord Baltimore was notified of the granting of the Pennsylvania
charter, and by letter from the King, he was required to meet with
agents of William Penn “to make a true division and separation of
the said provinces of Maryland and Pennsylvania, according to the
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bounds and degrees of our said Letters Patents by setting and fixing
certain Land Marks where they shall appear to border upon each
other for the preventing and avoiding all doubts and controversies
that may otherwise happen concerning the same . . .”

William Penn’s kinsman and deputy governor, William Markham,
paid a visit to Lord Baltimore at his Patuxent home in August of
1681 but became ill, so the conference was postponed until the 16th
of October. Further delay due to illness and difficulties of communi-
cation aroused the feeling that no settlement was desired. In the
meantime, Penn wrote to several of the citizens of Cecil and Balti-
more Counties, telling them that they were residents of Pennsylvania
and that they should not pay taxes to Maryland., This resulted in a
state of insurrection on the northern boundary., Mutual recrimina-
tions followed, and further attempts at conferences were delayed
until the following July when Baltimore and Markham met at Up-
land (now Chester, Pennsylvania) where an observation of the lati-
tude was taken. Both parties seem to have agreed that Upland was
south of the fortieth parallel. Markham pointed out that everything
along the Delaware from twelve miles north of New Castle to the
forty-third parallel was in Penn’s grant, and that if the two patents
overlapped the matter must be referred to the King. Heated dis-
cussion followed; Lord Baltimore ordered the inhabitants at Chi-
chester, or Marcus Hook, to pay no more taxes to Penn. Lasting
suspicion and animosity had been aroused between the two, and the
conference was broken off with Iittle accomplished except for the ob-
servation of latitude.

As previously stated, when the Duke of York defeated the Duich
in 1674, he crossed the Delaware River and took possession of New
Castle and the territory claimed by Lord Baltimore on the west bank
of the Delaware River. Lord Baltimore had made strenuous efforts
to establish control over this area by encouraging settlements along
the west shore of the Delaware River and Bay and along the Atlantic
coast, but Marvland setilers in this area remained scattered, and the
Duke of York, by his victory over the Dutch, was left in actual pos-
session of the territory,

In the meantime William Penn had begun to suspect that his
colony would not have access to the sea through the Chesapeake Bay.
Accordingly, in August 1682 he persuaded the Duke of York to
transfer to him the territory caken from the Dutch along the west
shore of the Delaware River. The Privy Council may have been
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aware that this transter would lead to a territorial dispute, but the
Duke of York was soon to become James 1I, and the Privy Council
did not consider it expedient to debate the matter with the Duke of
York and his influential friend, William Penn.

In October 1682 William Penn arrived at New Castle, and after
taking formal possession of his province west of New Jersey, proceeded
to “accomplish an act of union” between that part of his domain and
the Three Lower Countics on Delaware which the Duke of York had
conveved to him in August. On December 18th he met Lord Balti-
more at “Colopel Yailler’s House in Anne Arundel County.” 1t
seems evident that Penn was eager to have his southern boundary
fixed at a point far enough south to include the head of the Chesa-
peake Bay, therefore he was unwilling to vield to Maryland what was
clearly set forth in her charter. Lord Baltimore feared that any con-
cession made to Penn would be used by the Privy Council to invali-
date his claims to his entire territory, When he questioned Penn in
regard to his claims on the Delaware, the latter declared that when
the first question was settled he would give Lord Baltimore satisfac-
tion on that point. The conference ended with little accomplished
except for outlining the positions held by the two parties in the
conflict,

The next year William Penn and Lord Baltimore met in New
Castle in May. Baltimore stood firmly on the fortieth parallel as his
boundary; Penn, anxious to reach a settlement which would give him
an outlet on the Chesapeake, proposed that Lord Baltimore name a
price at which he would sell enough land o assure him such an out-
let. Lord Baltimore declined this proposition. Penn referred to his
influence with the King and his Privy Council. Lord Baltimore, hay-
ing made only one brief visit to England, Telt out of touch with
persons in authority. Penn, on the other hand, had a close relation-
ship with the Duke of York, soon to become King James II,

THE DECISION OF 1685

The question was referved to the Board of Trade and Foreign
Plantations by the King. The discussion was reduced to whether or
not the Dutch were in possession of the land along the Delaware, now.
claimed by Penn, at the time of Lord Baltimore’s grant in 16382, On:
November 7, 1685, the Commiitee reported to the King that they.
found Lord Baltimore’s patent was for “hitherto uncaltivated™ dnd :
and that the Iand lying between the Delaware and the L%f:ern_Sea_




on one side and the Chesapeake Bay on the other, was inhabited by
Christians before the date of his Charter. They recommended that
this tract be divided into two equal parts by a lne {rom the latitude
of “Cape Henlopen™ to the fortieth degree of north latitude. On the
15th of November, 1685, King fames II ordered that the division be
made. By its recommendation the Committee had placed itself
clearly on record as accepting the fortieth paraflel as Maryland's
boundary. The boundary line between Delaware and Maryland,
finally fixed by Mason and Dixon in 1763-67 was largely determined
by this recommendation of 1685. Although the personal argument
between the two principals in the contest ended for the time being
when the decision of the Privy Council was announced, the border
settlers kept up the controversy.

THE REVIVAL OF THE DISPUTE

The political policy of William I1I who came to the English throne
in 1688 was to bring the colonies into closer dependence upon the
Crown, and in 1690 Maryland became a royal province governed by
a royal Governor. In 1709 Charles Calvert, the Third Lord Balti-
more, petitioned for the return of his province. His petition was
refused. He died in 1715 and was succeeded by his son Benedict
Leonard Calvert, who survived his father no longer than a few
months. He was succeeded by Charles Calvert, the Fifth Lord Bala-
more, whose guardian petitioned King George I for the restoration
ol the government to the infant proprietary. His Majesty was
readily induced to reinstate the noble family to their ancient right
of governing the provinee.

William Penn's government was taken from bim in 1691 buc re-
stored in 1694, Penn was so hard pressed financially and so harrassed
by his enemies that he was unable to press for settlement of the bound-
ary claims. His death occurred in 1718, three yeavs after that of the
Third Lord Baltimore. He tansferred his interests in Pennsylvania
to his wile Hannah Penn, who deeded the province to her sons, John,
Thomas, Richard and Dennis.

As the popuiation in the disputed zone increased, the need for a
divisional line became more pressing. Tn 1720 Hannah Penn peti-
tioned the Lerd Justices of Great Britain to pass upon her title and
to issue an order for the settlement of the bousdary in accordance
with the order of 1685, but nothing came of this. Difficulties in col-
lecting taxes in the disputed zone forced the proprietors to attempt
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an agreement. Both sides seemed ready for a settlement to stop the
border feuds and to establish their iitles in order to gain revenue
from the sertiers in the disputed territory.

In 1781 Lord Baltimore petitioned George I to order the proprietor
of Pennsylvania to unite with him in ascertaining the boundatjes
between their provinces, and that in case of refusal or failure to do
this within a year, that his Majesty review the entire question. The
petition was referred to the Committee for Trade and Plantations.
Many meetings were held. Each side produced a map and denoted
on it the way in which the boundaries should be run. There seems
to have been some discussion as to whether the northern boundary of
Maryland should be fifteen or twenty miles south of Philadelphia,
though Lord Baltimore later contended he had always held to the
fortieth parallel. Since it was difficult to describe the bounds in
words, a map was appended. The Penns claimed it was Lord Balti-
more's map that was adopted. Later Lord Baltimore claimed that the
map inserted was false, to the advantage of the Penns. On this map
Cape Henlopen, onc of the points mentioned in the order of 1685
and in the agreement of 1732, is placed at a point on Fenwick’s Island
fifteen miles south of the cape now known as Cape Henlopen.

THE AGREEMENT OF 1732

The boundary adjustment in 1732 provided for a line drawn due
west from “Cape Henlopen” (on Fenwick’s Island) across the penin-
sula, from the center of which another line should be drawn tangent
to a circle twelve miles from New Castle, while a meridian from the
tangent peint should be continued to within fifteen miles south of
the southernmost point of Philadelphia, whence should be {raced the
paraliel westward that was to divide the provinces. By this agree-
ment the Penns succeeded in obtaining from Charles, the Fifth Lord
Baltimore, all their claims.

The Agreement ol 1732 called [or the appointment of seven com-
missioners by each of the contracting parties, any three of whom
should be a quorum, to mark the said boundaries; that the operations
should be finished with fairness and dispatch; that the line should be
well marked by trees and other natural objects, and further desig-
nated by stone pillars sculptured with the arms of the contracting
parties facing their respective possessions. If a quorum of either
group failed to attend, the defaulting party should pay to the other
five thousand pounds. The first meeting of the Commissioners was
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held at Newtown (now Chestercown), Maryland. Governor Ogle of
Maryland and Governor Gordon of Pennsylvania were the most
prominent characters on the Commissions. They met lour times at
New Castle, once at Joppa in Baltimore County and once in Philadel-
phia. The questions discussed were two in number. Whar should
be the center ol the circle they were to lay off; and what should be the
size of the circle? The Pennsylvania Commissioners insisted that they
were empowered to do cverything necessary for surveying the circle.
The deeds of feoffment from the Duke of York to William Penn in
August 1682 defined the circle as having a twelve mile radins. The
Maryland Commissioners took the position that the original circie had
been thought of as being twelve miles in circumference rather than
twelve miles distant [rom New Castle. Alter discussing these questions
over and over, the Commissioners signed a joint statement that they
could not reach agreement. The actual causes for this failure are not
clear, due to later accusations and recriminations on both sides.

THE TEMPORARY LINE

The increasing seriousness of border disputes led the Governor and
General Assembly of Maryiand to ask King George II [or protection
and relief, The King issued orders to the Governors of Maryland
and Pennsylvania forbidding all disorders along the boundary and the
making of further grants in the disputed territory. On May 4, 1738,
Lord Baltimore and the Penns agreed that all lands then possessed
were to remain as they were and that vacant lands were to be under
the jurisdiction of Maryland and Pennsylvania, respectively, umtil
the boundary line should be sectled. May 25, 1758, the King ordercd
that a temporary boundary be drawn fifteen and one quarter miles
south of Philadelphia on the east side of the Susquehanna River and
fourteen and three quarter miles south of Philadelphia on the west
side of the Susquehanna. This peculiar provision seems to have been
an attempt to fix the line near the agreement of 1732 without giving
approval to that document. This westward line was extended to the
most western hills of the Blue Ridge, beyond which treaties with the
Indians stipulated that no scttlements be made. This temporary line
became the accepted boundary between Maryland and Pennsylvania
and remained so until the Mason and Dixon line was laid down in
1768-67.

THE DECISION OF 1750; THE TRANSPENINSULAR LINE

In 1734 Lord Baltimore had again petitioned the King for confirma-
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tion of his Charter. Shortly thereafter the Penns submitted a peti-
tion requesting the dismissal of Lord Baltimore's petition and the
confirmation of their own title. This led to the Chancery suit which
began in 1735 and ended in May of 1750. Documents in regard to
this suit are filled with partisan statements. The purpose of this suit
was to secure the execution of the agreement signed by Lord Balti-
more in 1732. The case was stubbornly contested on both sides.
Hearings were held, testimony taken, bills werc amended and delays
accurred; but on the 15th of May, 1750, Lord Hardwicke issued his
decree as High Chancellor requiring that the agreement of 1732 be
carried out. This decision did not touch upon the original rights of
the contestants. The Chancellor decreed that Commissioners should
be appointed within three months who should be authorized to lay
out the lines called for in the original Articles, the work to be com-
pleted by the end of April 1752, The Chancellor decided the ques-
tions which had caused difficulty in the discussions of the Commis-
sioners in 1732, The center of the c¢ircle was to be the center of the
town of New Castle; the circle should have a radius of 12 miles; and
“Cape Henlopen should be taken to be situated at the place where
it is laid down and described in the map or plan annexed” to the
Articles of Agreement.

The Commissioners from the two provinces met in New Castle,
November 14th, 1750 and decided upon the Courthouse as the center
of New Castle. Disagreement arose over the method of locating the
circle and whether or not the English statute miles specified should
be measured horizontally or superficially. The Marylanders sug-
gested that further imstructions be asked for on maiters in dispute.
Two surveyors were sent to “Cape Henlopen” where they took ob-
servations and succeeded in clearing a line six miles westward. Work
was broken off at this point because of the cold stormy season and
the Commissioners and surveyors met the following April. At that
time the work of extending the line began and by June 12 they had
reached Slaughter Creek, cutting off Taylor's Island. Three days
later they came to the eastern side of the Chesapeake Bay. Maryland
Commissioners contended that the line should stop at Slaughter
Creek which was 66 miles from the point of beginning. This would
muake a shorter line, would place the Middle Point farther east, and
would thus give Maryland more territory. The Pennsylvania Com-
mssioners claimed that Slaughter Creek, being only two feet deep
at low water, should not be regarded as a part of Chesapeake Bay,
and that the line should extend all the way to open water. This
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would make the line 69 miles and 298 perches long. This dispute,
which in reality concerned the position of the Middle Point, was
referred to the Lord High Chancellor, and the Commissioners ad-
journed to await his decision and further instructions from the
proprietors.

{—

Fig. 3. The Transpeninsular Line showing the Middle Point,

At the outset of the survey of the Transpeninsular Line the Com-
missioners had instructed the surveyors to mark each mile with a post
-and to set up stones provided for the purpose at the end of every five
miles “so far as 25 miles.” It was believed that the Middle Point
would lie at least 25 miles from the ocean and it seemed safe to mark
permanently the first 25 miles of the line. The surveyors began at
the “verge of the main Ocean”; the f{irst stone was planted “due west
139 perches” and “near a mulberry tree.”

The monuments used for marking cach five-mile interval were cut
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especially for this purpose from native stone. They were rectangular
prisms 4% inches by 8 inches in cross-section and with a rounded top.
On one side was inscribed the arms of Lord Baltimore and on the
opposite side the arms of the Penns. The design used for these coats
ol arms differed somewhat from that on the boundary monuments
wsed by Mason and Dixon at a later date.

Tig. 4. Monuments set on the Transpeninsular Line in 1751, Left, coat
of arms of the Calveris on the south side; right, coat of arms of the
Penns on the north side.

Only five of these monuments, all “crownstones,” were established
at this time. Tt was intended to use six, one near the ocean and one
at every five-mile interval to the 25th milepost. At the 15-mile point,
however, the Pocomoke River and swrrounding swamps discouraged
placing a stone in this area.

THE AGREEMENT OF 1760; TRIAL SURVEYS OF THE
TANGENT LINE AND THE CIRCLE

In April of this year (1751), while the line was being run, Charles,
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Filth Lord Baitimore, had died in England, bequeathing his proprie-
tary rights in Maryland to his daughter rather than to his son,
Frederick, who inherited the title. The young lLord Baltimore, who
was under the guidance of his uncle, Cecil Calvert, refused to be
bound by the agreements of his father. His guardian urged that any
settlement be delayed until Frederick, the Sixth Lord Baltimore, had
attained his majority. During this interval both parties in the bound-
ary dispute seemed ready to come to some agreement. Lord Balti-
more hoped to regain some of the points lost by his father in 1732,
and the Penns, on the other hand, were anxious to retain all the
advantages gained in that agrecment. Finally in 1757 a draft of
an agreement was made which reached its final form on July 4th, 1760,
The High Commissioner had given his opinion in favor of horizontal
against superficial lines, and a circle with the twelveanile radius whose
center should be the New Castle courthouse. The first meeting of the
Commissioners under the agreement of 1760 was held on November
19 of that year and the last on November 9, 1768. Complete minutes
of this Commission are filed in the Land Office in Annapolis.

The Commissioners of 1760 accepted the line run in 1751 from
Fenwick Island to the Chesapeake Bay and fixed the Middle Point,
marking it by a white oak post. When satisfied with the accuracy of
their observations, the Commissioners proceeded to set up a cut stone
monument two feet and eight inches to the north of the post marking
the middle point. A similar stone was placed at the 30-mile point on
the Transpeninsular Line, since this point had not been marked by
the surveyors in 1751. "Fwo stones sct in 1760, one at the Middle
Point and one at the 30-mile point resembled the five placed on the
Transpeninsular Line in 1751, All were engraved with the arms of
the Penns facing Pennsylvania and with the arms of the Calverts fac-
ing Maryland territory.

The Commissioners then made observations for the true meridian and
work was started to run the line northward until it should touch the
circle which they were authorized to run at a distance of twelve miles
around New Castle. By june 12th, 1761, the surveyors had reached a
point twenty-five miles north of the Middle Point. Work was broken
oft for a time and the line reviewed, By the end of October they
had reached a point eighty miles north of the Middle Point. When
the circle was laid down around New Castle it was found that its
westward radius cut this line at a distance of seven miles, thirty-nine
and ninety-seven hundredths chains from the center of New Castle,
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and seventy-nine miles and fifty-two chains from the Middle Point. By
November 28 the surveyors had set up a post marked .M which in
their opinjon was “twelve English statute miles [rom the spire of
the courthouse of New Castle”” The following spring the surveyors
ran a line which cut the twelve-mile radius at a point nearly half a
mile east of the post marked M. where they hoped to intersect the
radius. A new tangent completed in August of 1763 passed five
chains and twenty-five links west of the post marked XMH . This
line might have been accepted had it not been that the Commissioners
were informed that Charles Mason and Jeremiah Dixeon had been

engaged to assist them in running the line.

Fig. 5. Building which was formerly the New Castle Courthouse. The
wing has been added since the dome served as the center of the New
Castle Cirele.

THE MASON AND DIXON SURVEYS
THE “POST MARKED WEST”

Meeting in Georgetown, Kent County, Maryland, on Qctober 22,
1765, the Gommissioner’s minutes recorded that “, . . the Pennsylvania
Commissioners informed the Maryland Commissioners that they had
Iately received a letter from the Proprietor of Pennsylvania dated the
10th of August acquainting them that they and Lord Baltimore had
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agreed with two Mathematicians or Surveyors to come over and assist
in running the Lines agreed on in the original Articles, who were to
embark for Philadelphia the latter end of August last and that their
arrival might soon be expected.” This is the first American reference
to Charles Mason and Jeremiah Dixon whose names were later given
to the boundary between Maryland and Pennsylvania,

Charles Mason and Jeremiah Dixon who had been employed “to
mark, run out, settle, fix and determine all such parts of the Circle,
Marks, lines and bhoundaries as are mentioned in the several Articles
of Agreement or Commissions and are not yet compicted” arrived in
Philadelphia on November 15, 1763. 'Their Journal notes that from
November 16 to December 18 they were occupied with unpacking
their instruments, building an observatory and attending meetings of
the Commissioners. The oath was administered on December 6th and
they were given instructions on where to begin and on hiring and
paying laborers. They were [urther instructed—

“You are to Enter fair Minutes of your proceedings in ftwe Books,
to be by you kept for that purpese, which Minutes are_every Day _to
be signed by both of you, and in such Minutes you will take Notice
of the most remarkable Buildings, Waters, Bridges and Roads that
may be near the Lines which you are to run or through which the
Lines must pass. If the Lines you are required to run, pass through
any Houses, Orchards, or Gardens you are not to destroy or Injure any
such House nor cut down any Fruit trees without the Consent of the
Owners, . . .7

The first task of Mason and Dixon was to discover and mark the
most southern part of the city of Philadelphia, since, under the agree-
ment of 1760, the northern boundary of Maryland was to be a parallel
of latitude fifteen miles south of that point. Having established the
most southern part of Philadelphia by the aid of city authorities, they
erccted a temporary observatory and determined that the “latitude of
the South Point of the Gity of Philadelphia is 39°, 56/, 29.1"." They
then maved 31 miles westward, and on January 14, 1764, they reached
the farm of Johu Harlan which became their headquarters. Here
they set up an observatory and erected a monument which came to be
known as the “Stargazers’ Stonc.” From this point they opened a line
to the southward through the forest [or a distance of 15 miles. This
brought them to a point “in Mr. Alexander Bryan's field” in New
Castle County where they put up a “Post marked West.” This dis-
tance was measured twice using a 66 foot chain, except on steep slopes,
where wooden frames 16% feet long called “levels” were used. Here
a third observatory was set up and the latitude which was to mark the
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